1956

# James M. Alexander et al v. Hal S. Bennett et al : Plaintiffs' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs have filed their Petition with this Court setting forth the facts which they believe justify their request that this Court prohibit the defendants from cancelling, revoking or calling in licenses which have heretofore been issued and are outstanding in the hands of the plaintiffs (except the two hereinafter referred to) to practice their professions as "Naturopathic Physicians, including Minor Surgery and Obstetrics" and to prescribe and administer narcotic drugs in connection therewith, and requiring the defendants to issue to the plaintiffs the regular renewal licenses for the year 1956. As to the two defendants, Robert O. Breckenridge and Laurence R. McDonald, the petition asks that the defendants be required to issue to them licenses to practice their professions as Naturopathic Physicians, including Minor Surgery and Obstetrics and permitting them to prescribe and administer narcotic drugs in connection therewith. The defendants filed an answer wherein they admitted substantially all of the material allegations set forth in the plaintiffs' Petition. The matter is before this court on the Petition of the plaintiffs and the Answer of the defendants for determination.

Wherever throughout this Brief reference is made to the Petition, it will be referred to as "P" with the page number following.

All of the plaintiffs (except the plaintiffs Breckenridge and Laurence R. McDonald, who will be hereinafter separately referred to) hold licenses which have been heretofore issued to them by the Department of Business Regulation of the



State of Utah to practice as a "Naturopathic Physician, including Minor Surgery and Obstetrics." These original licenses have been issued to the plaintiffs at various times, but continuously, ranging back as far as May 9, 1939 and to October 27, 1954 (P-1 & 2; Schedule A). Prior to the issuance of such licenses, all of the plaintiffs took and passed examinations as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, which examinations included separate examinations in minor surgery and in obstetrics, and which said examinations were given under the direction of the Director of the Department of Registration. Prior to the taking of said examinations and the issuance of said licenses, each plaintiff met all of the educational requirements of the statutes of Utah and served the necessary internship as required by law. Such educational requirements included the training and graduation from a naturopathic college, recognized by the Department of Registration. All of the naturopathic colleges recognized by the Department of Registration have as a part of the tenets of their schools and as subjects taught therein courses in minor surgery, including clinical studies, and all of the plaintiffs as a part of their educational training have taken and passed courses in minor surgery and obstetrics at some school approved by the Department of Registration (P-2).

The examinations given to the plaintiffs and which they passed in order to obtain their licenses to practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, were given by and under the direction of the Department of Business Regulation and through the statutory committees set up under the Business Regulation Department. Said department provided and furnished to all applicants forms designed for appli-

cants to apply to take examinations as naturopathic physicans, including minor surgery and obstetrics (P-2, 3; (Ex. 1).

At all times since 1939 the Department of Registration has recognized the right of applicants, upon showing of qualifications as required by the statutes to take examinations as Naturopathic Physicians, including Minor Surgery and Obstetrics, and upon the passage of examinations so given have issued licenses to so practice and have permitted said licenses to remain outstanding from year to year. As indicated the plaintiffs herein are the holders of such licenses and have practiced thereunder since the issuance of said licenses and are still so practicing thereunder. During all of said time and as an incidence of said licenses, and in connection with their practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, the plaintiffs have prescribed and administered narcotic drugs in connection with the treatment of their patients, and such practice has been with the knowledge and approval of the defendants and has been administratively approved and recognized during all of said time (P-3.)

The procedure which has been administratively followed by the Department of Registration substantially without interruption since April 12, 1939, is as follows:

The director of Registration and the representative committee for practitioners of naturopathy have met in a regular meeting at the state capitol and prescribed the time for giving of examinations and the subjects upon which such examinations would be given for the licensing of applicants for "Naturopathic Physicians, including Minor Surgery and Obstetrics." At such meetings it was determined by whom the examination

should be given in the various subjects, including the subject of minor surgery, obstetrics, and narcotics. Applicants for examination were required to fill in and file with the Department of Registration an application upon a blank furnished by the Department of Registration, as required by Sec. 58-1-17 U.C.A. 1953. That form was as set forth in Exhibit 1, to which attention is directed. After checking said applications, and determining that the applicant met the statutory requirements, and the requirements set up by the department and the said representative committee, examinations were given in naturopathy, which included subjects of minor surgery and obstetrics and narcotics. After said examinations had been taken and the papers corrected, meetings were held of the director and the said representative committee at which time a report was made as to which applicants successfully passed the examination, and those applicants who had successfully passed the examination, including examinations for minor surgery, obstetrics and narcotics, were recommended for registration as "naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics." Upon such recommendation being made the Department of Registration issued to such applicants who had so successfully passed said examination, a license to practice within the State of Utah as a "Naturopathic Physician, including Minor Surgery and Obstetrics," which said license was delivered to the applicant upon a form substantially as follows:

STATE OF UTAH  
(THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF UTAH 1896)  
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION  
REGISTRATION DIVISION  
(Name)

Having complied with all the requirements of the laws of the STATE OF UTAH and the rules of this Department, is hereby registered and licensed to practice as a

NATUROPATHIC PHYSICIAN, INCLUDING MINOR  
SURGERY AND OBSTETRICS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my  
hand and affixed the official seal of the Depart-  
ment this.....day of....., A. D. 19.....

-----  
Director of Registration

License No.

-----  
(P-3, 4, Exhibit 2)

Upon the issuance and delivery of said license it was and has continued until this time to be the license of that person (one of the plaintiffs herein) to practice as is set forth on the face thereof, subject only to the payment by that licensee of the renewal license fee each year, and to his refraining from improper conduct. Each of the plaintiffs herein (except the two plaintiffs Breckenridge and McDonald as hereinafter referred to) hold and possess a license in the form of said Exhibit 2 and have held and so possessed said license from the time they were first licensed as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, as shown on Schedule A. At the end of each calendar year, the Department of Registration has given a notice to each of the individual plaintiffs herein that they should send in their renewal fee in order to renew their said licenses. Upon receipt of such renewal fee at the beginning of each year, each individual plaintiff herein was issued a renewal certificate which set forth that he was duly registered as a naturopathic physician, including minor

surgery and obstetrics, (Ex. 3) together with a pocket card certifying that he was so licensed (Ex. 4) (P-4, 5).

There is maintained in the office of the Director of the Department of Registration a Minute Book setting forth the minutes of the meetings of the Directors and said representative committee for practitioners of naturopathy. This is the committee established by and provided for in Sec. 58-1-5, U.C.A. 1953 which section reads in part as follows:

"The functions of the Department of Registration shall be exercised by the Director of Registration under the supervision of the Commission of the Department of Business Regulation, and when so provided, in collaboration and with the assistance of representative committees of the several professions, trades and occupations as follows: \* \* \* (11) for practitioners of naturopathy, a committee of three members each of whom shall be a graduate of a school of naturopathy of good standing recognized by the Department of Business Regulation \* \* \* ."

The minutes of the meetings of said Director and representative committee contain throughout references to the examinations given for and issuance of licenses for the practice as a naturopathic physician, including minor surgery and obstetrics, commencing with the minutes of April 12, 1939 and to the present time.

Section 58-1-15, U.C.A. 1953 provides that the Director of the Department shall assign to the several members of the respective committees the subjects in which such members shall prepare questions for examination and rate answers. A rather complete synopsis of the minutes of the meetings between the Director and the representative committee for practitioners

of naturopathy is set forth in plaintiffs' petition at pages 5, 6, 7 and 8. An examination of that synopsis and of those minutes will show that during all of said period from April 12, 1939 to the present time, meetings were held at rather frequent intervals wherein the examinations were set up and the subjects assigned to various members of the examining committee, by the Director, in connection with examinations to be given to those applicants to practice as Naturopathic Physicians, including Minor Surgery and Obstetrics, which subjects so assigned for examination included examinations in minor surgery, obstetrics and narcotics; and also such meetings and the minutes thereof reflect the passing of such examinations in the various subjects mentioned and the approval of the examinations taken by the candidates and the issuance of licenses to practice naturopathy, including minor surgery and obstetrics. Such minutes also include adoption of definitions of naturopathy in accordance with the tenets of the school (Exhibits 5 and 6) which matters will be more fully referred to in connection with the argument hereinafter in this Brief set forth; and also refer to the use of narcotics by naturopaths in connection with the practice by them of minor surgery and obstetrics, and approve such practices. Such minutes also reflect that not only the Director of the Department of Registration, but likewise members of the Commission of Business Regulation were present at some such meetings and particularly at meetings where there was discussed the matter as to whether or not the licenses issued to naturopathic physicians did and should include the right to practice minor surgery and obstetrics, and showing that such practice was approved at meetings where such Commissioners were present (P-7, 8).

The Department of Business Regulation issued at various times instructions to applicants for naturopathic registration (Ex. 8) and also issued in mimeograph form "Requirements for a License in Utah as Naturopathic Physican or Naturopathic Physician and Surgeon" (Ex. 9). Both of these exhibits recognize the right of applicants to take examinations in obstetrics and gynecology and in minor surgery and narcotics. Such exhibits (Ex. 8) recognize that the subjects of obstetrics, gynecology, minor surgery and narcotics are included in the subjects 'in the curriculum of recognized naturopathic schools.'

During the period from April 12, 1939 until the present time the only interruption whatsoever in the course of the procedure as administratively followed, as referred to hereinabove in this statement of facts, was for a period of one year subsequent to March 9, 1948 on which latter date in the minutes of a meeting of the Director and representative committee for practitioners of naturopathy, the following appears:

"A great deal of discussion took place with the subject of taking Minor Surgery off the examination as in the future or until the Legislature or Court amends the Naturopathic law, no further licenses will be issued to include Minor Surgery. Commissioner Hacking was prescent and stated that the Department would be required to issue licenses in the future to Naturopathic Physicians including Obstetrics, and delete 'Minor Surgery'."

During said period of approximately one year, it is true that no new licenses were issued to practice minor surgery, but neither were any of the outstanding licenses theretofore issued for such practice revoked or otherwise changed, nor were any practitioners notified that they should cease their practice as

previously carried on, and the practice of the Department of issuing licenses to practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, was resumed at the end of approximately one year as shown by the minutes as hereinabove referred to, and said practice has ever since continued. Except for said interruption there has been a constant and continuous administrative practice and procedure of giving examinations for and issuing licenses to practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics since April 12, 1939 (P-9).

During said period of time from 1939 to the present time, there has been issued by the Attorneys General of the State of Utah numerous decisions interpreting the statutes of the State of Utah as related to said licenses under which decisions the Attorneys General of the State of Utah have held consistently that the statutes of Utah, as administered by the Department of Registration, contemplates the issuance of said licenses to practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, and have sustained the validity thereof, including the use by said naturopathic physicians of narcotics in connection with their practice of minor surgery and obstetrics. Said opinions are fully set forth and attached to plaintiffs' petition as Exhibits 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16. The plaintiffs, and each of them, have relied upon said opinions and upon the administrative practices followed as a result of said opinions and have practiced and have built their practices and professions based upon the said opinions, and based upon the licenses issued by the Department of Registration thereunder (P-9).

Under date of September 2, 1955 the present Attorney



General, Hon. E. R. Callister, issued an opinion wherein he disagreed with previous holdings of the Attorneys General of the State of Utah and directed the Department of Registration to change its long existing practice of issuing licenses and hence forth to cease issuance of licenses to practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, and directed that they cease permitting plaintiffs to prescribe or administer narcotic drugs. A copy of said opinion is attached to plaintiffs' petition as Ex. 17. At the suggestion and request of the Attorney General, the Department of Registration prepared a Notice directed to each of the plaintiffs herein directing and requiring them to forthwith surrender their present licenses so that the same might be issued to eliminate any reference to minor surgery and said defendants threatened to mail said notices to plaintiffs and further threatened to refuse to renew plaintiffs' licenses so presently held by them permitting them to practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics, and to prevent them from prescribing or administering narcotic drugs.

As to the plaintiffs Robert O. Breckenridge and Laurence R. McDonald, who joined this action on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated, they have met all educational and internship requirements of the statutes of the State of Utah to permit them to apply for and take the regular examination as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics given by and under the direction of the Department of Business Regulation, through the said statutory committee known as the representative committee for practitioners of naturopathy. In accordance therewith each of said plaintiffs did apply for and take said examination, and each of said

plaintiffs successfully passed such examination, which included separately examinations in the subjects of minor surgery, obstetrics and narcotics, and the representative committee recommended to the Department of Business Regulation that licenses be issued by said Department to each of said plaintiffs to practice as naturopathic physicians, including minor surgery and obstetrics. The Department nevertheless failed and refused to issue to plaintiffs such a license, but on the contrary advised plaintiffs that no license would be issued to said plaintiffs to permit them to include as a part of their practice either minor surgery or obstetrics, and further that they could not administer narcotic drugs.

There are numerous other facts relevant to the matter which are set forth in the plaintiffs' petition and are admitted by the pleadings, including the various exhibits which are attached to the petition, which for the purpose of avoiding repetition will be referred to whenever deemed to be material and pertinent in connection with the argument as hereinafter set forth.

The applicable statutes will, of course, likewise be referred to to such extent as is deemed necessary in connection with the argument.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT ONE

THE STATUTES OF THE STATE OF UTAH CONTEMPLATE THE ISSUANCE OF LICENSES TO PRACTICE AS NATUROPATHIC PHYSICIANS, INCLUDING MINOR SURGERY AND OBSTETRICS.

## POINT TWO

THE RIGHT TO PRESCRIBE AND ADMINISTER NARCOTICS NECESSARILY FOLLOWS THE RIGHT TO PRACTICE OBSTETRICS OR MINOR SURGERY OR EITHER OF THEM TO SUCH EXTENT AS NEEDED IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH PRACTICE; BUT IN ANY EVENT THE STATUTES SPECIFICALLY PERMIT THE ADMINISTRATION AND PRESCRIPTION OF NARCOTICS BY THE PLAINTIFFS.

## POINT THREE

IF THERE IS ANY QUESTION AS TO THE RIGHTS OF THE PLAINTIFFS TO PRACTICE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LICENSES HERETOFORE ISSUED TO THEM UNDER THE STATUTES OF THE STATE OF UTAH SUCH QUESTION ARISES BY AMBIGUITY IN THE STATUTES AND HENCE THE DOCTRINE OF CONTEMPORANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE INTERPRETATION IS APPLICABLE AND THE RIGHTS OF THE PLAINTIFFS TO PRACTICE AS NATUROPATHIC PHYSICIANS, INCLUDING MINOR SURGERY AND OBSTETRICS, AND TO THE USE OF NARCOTICS IS ESTABLISHED BY LONG ADMINISTRATIVE PRACTICE.

## POINT FOUR

AS TO THE PLAINTIFFS BRECKENRIDGE AND McDONALD, THERE IS NO AUTHORITY IN THE LAW

FOR A REFUSAL BY THE DEPARTMENT OF REGISTRATION TO ISSUE TO THEM LICENSES TO PRACTICE AS NATUROPATHIC PHYSICIANS, INCLUDING MINOR SURGERY AND OBSTETRICS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE EXAMINATIONS SUCCESSFULLY PASSED BY THEM.

#### POINT FIVE

THE LICENSES, AS ISSUED, AND THE RIGHTS PERTINENT THERETO, ARE VALUABLE PROPERTY RIGHTS AND CANNOT BE REVOKED OR THEIR RENEWAL REFUSED EXCEPT FOR THE REASONS AND IN THE MANNER REQUIRED BY STATUTE, NAMELY BY SECTIONS 58-1-23, 58-1-24, 58-1-25 AND 58-1-26, U.C.A. 1953 WITHOUT BEING IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 7 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES. NONE OF THESE PROCEDURES HAVE BEEN FOLLOWED IN THIS CASE.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT ONE

THE STATUTES OF THE STATE OF UTAH CONTEMPLATE THE ISSUANCE OF LICENSES TO PRACTICE AS NATUROPATHIC PHYSICIANS, INCLUDING MINOR SURGERY AND OBSTETRICS.

It is deemed advisable to cite all statutes which might have a bearing upon this matter, so that they can be referred to in this brief. For clarity and convenience the statutes are set out as they affect (A) The Representative Committee, (B) The Educational Qualifications, and (C) The Type of License Issued.

A. *Representative Committee.* From territorial times up to the enactment of the Laws of 1921, the only committee provided for was the committee of varying number, up to ten, composed of graduates of recognized medical schools, reputable and in good standing, plus the Attorney General.

In 1921, the Legislature created the Department of Registration by enactment of Chapter 130, Laws of Utah, 1921, Section (f) provided:

“For the medical practitioners, the practice of obstetrics, the practitioners of osteopathy and the practitioners of any other system or method of treating human ailments, five persons, each one of whom shall be a licensed practitioner of medicine of this state, and a graduate of a legally chartered medical school and in good standing; provided, that for the purpose of preparing questions and rating papers, on practice peculiar to any school, graduates of which may be candidates for registration, or license, the Director shall designate additional or other examiners whenever occasion may require it.”

Chapter 49, Laws of Utah 1923, amended Section 3 of the Laws of 1921, to read:

“For the practitioners of medicine and surgery in all their branches, and for the practice of obstetrics only, five persons, each of whom shall be a licensed prac-

tioner of medicine and surgery in this state, and a graduate of a regularly chartered medical college in good standing."

"For the osteopathic physician or the osteopathic physician and surgeon, three members, each of whom shall be a graduate of a regular chartered college of osteopathy in good standing and licensed in this state; for the practitioner of the treatment of human ailments without the use of surgery or drugs, except as otherwise provided, two of the number appointed to examine physicians and surgeons, to be designated by the director, and three persons from the particular school for treating human ailments for which the applicant desires a license to practice."

In the Revised Statutes of 1933, Section 79-1-6, Subsection 11, the Legislature created a new committee "for practitioners of naturopathy, a committee of three members each of whom shall be a graduate of a school of naturopathy of standing recognized by the Department of Registration."

The Legislature, in the Utah Code Annotated, 1943, and the Utah Code Annotated, 1953, has continued the representative committees for practitioners of medicine and surgery in all branches, for practitioners in the treatment of human ailments without the use of drugs or medicine and without operative surgery, for practitioners of naturopathy, for osteopathic physicians or osteopathic physicians and surgeons and for the practice of obstetrics only, in very much the same language as these committees existed in the Revised Statutes of 1933.

It is noteworthy that the Legislature of 1921, which set up representative committee composed entirely of graduates of medical schools provided:

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