1956

# James M. Alexander et al v. Hal S. Bennett et al : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendants essentially agree to the Statement of Facts of the plaintiffs but not to the conclusions of the plaintiffs set forth therein.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE APPLIED FOR LICENSES TO TREAT HUMAN AILMENTS WITHOUT DRUGS OR MEDICINE AND WITHOUT OPERATIVE SURGERY; AND THEY MUST USE THE NAME OF THEIR SCHOOL IN THEIR LICENSE.

### POINT II

THE COURT IS NOT BOUND BY THE INTERPRETATION OF A STATUTE BY AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY; THE LICENSING STATUTES ARE UNAMBIGUOUS.

### POINT III

PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT QUALIFIED TO PRACTICE OBSTETRICS; AND IF SO QUALIFIED, THEY CANNOT USE DRUGS, MEDICINE OR SURGERY.

### POINT IV

THE INTENDED ACTION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REGISTRATION IS NOT A LICENSE REVOCATION PROCEEDING, BUT MERELY ONE TO MAKE THE LICENSE ISSUED CONFORM TO THE LAW.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE APPLIED FOR LICENSES TO TREAT HUMAN AILMENTS WITHOUT DRUGS OR MEDICINE AND WITHOUT OPERATIVE SURGERY; AND THEY MUST USE THE NAME OF THEIR SCHOOL IN THEIR LICENSE.

All of the plaintiffs have made application for license under the provisions of Section 58-12-2, Utah Code Anno-

tated 1953 (or under similar provision in prior laws), which reads in part as follows:

“Every applicant for such license must:

\* \* \*

“(2) Designate in his application whether he desires to practice medicine and surgery in all branches thereof or to treat human ailments without the use of drugs or medicine and without operative surgery. If he desires to treat human ailments without the use of drugs or medicines and without operative surgery, the designation shall be in accordance with the tenets of the professional school, college or institution of which he is a graduate.”

It is to be noted that plaintiffs failed to cite or explain the foregoing statute in their brief. A mere reading of the section shows clearly that the Legislature intended that the applicant for the license designate the scope of his intended practice, and all of these plaintiffs have applied for a license to practice the treatment of human ailments *without* the use of drugs or medicine and *without* operative surgery.

It is also to be noted that the foregoing section makes only two classifications. It does not mention naturopaths, chiropractors, or any other of many “drugless healers.” The only place the names of the various healing groups come to the forefront is by the applicant designating which name his school used. The statutes of our state do not otherwise authorize the issuance of a license to “naturopathic physicians.”

When the foregoing section is read in conjunction with Section 58-12-3, Utah Code Annotated 1953, it be-

comes clear that when subsection (3) says:

“To practice the treatment of human ailments without the use of drugs or medicine and without operative surgery in accordance with the tenets of the professional school, college or institution of which the applicant is a graduate as designated in his application for license, \* \* \*”

the Legislature had in mind only appending the proper name to the license and did not have in mind the granting of broad additional rights to practice. The plaintiffs would have us believe that the foregoing subsection is an “escalator” type provision which would enable the “drugless healer” groups to change the curriculum of their professional schools and thus ipso facto change or enlarge the scope of their practice even to the dispensing of drugs, medicine and performing surgery. Such a construction flies in the face of the prohibitive part of both of the foregoing sections which states that the practice shall be “*without* drugs or medicine and *without* operative surgery.”

In addition, the applicants have all designated that they were applying for a license to “treat human ailments without the use of drugs or medicine and without operative surgery” and they should be so limited.

## POINT II

**THE COURT IS NOT BOUND BY THE INTERPRETATION OF A STATUTE BY AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY; THE LICENSING STATUTES ARE UNAMBIGUOUS.**

The plaintiffs urge that there is an ambiguity in the statute and that now, by long administrative interpre-

tation, the plaintiffs have gained rights not specified in the licensing statutes. If any strength is to be given to this proposition, then the plaintiffs should lose because, since at least 1921 to May, 1939, the same essential licensing provisions of our laws were uniformly construed by the Department of Business Regulation so as to exclude the use of drugs, medicine, and surgery, to which construction many of the plaintiffs gave their assent by many years of licensing. Then in May, 1939, the first licenses were issued which included obstetrics and minor surgery. However, the Department challenged the issuance of said licenses (p. 6 of petition; p. 13 of plaintiffs' brief; p. 9 of petition), but later the Department acquiesced in the opinions of the Attorney General (p. 8 of petition), but now the Department of Business Regulation has gone back to its pre-1939 position of interpretation. The most striking fact to be gained from the scrutiny of the record of administrative interpretation after 1939 is that there has not been any consistent, uniform, long-continued interpretation of the licensing statute in question.

What happened to the licensing provisions in 1939, so that new licenses were issued to these plaintiffs who were completely outside the scope of "drugless healing?" There was not any basic change in the licensing law in 1939! Section 58-12-2 and Section 58-12-3 were not changed. However, a new section (Section 58-12-22) was enacted which tightened up the educational requirements for "naturopathic physicians." Section 58-12-2(3) provides that an applicant for a license to treat human ailments without the use of drugs or medicine and without



operative surgery must "Have the preliminary and professional education hereinafter provided for." The mere fact that the Legislature saw fit to require more education for a particular group of practitioners does not mean that by amending or adding to those requirements, the scope of their licenses was enlarged. This change in the educational requirement for "naturopathic physicians" apparently caused some uncertainty in the Department but it has now returned to its earlier construction of the licensing law.

Plaintiffs concede that an administrative interpretation is not binding on the Court (p. 45 of brief). It must also be recognized that even the administrative interpretation of an ambiguous statute is no more than persuasive to the Court because otherwise the Court would be ousted of its jurisdiction to review the actions of inferior tribunals. Further, if plaintiffs' argument be sound, then an administrative agency is powerless to correct its mistakes! That is not the law in Utah.

However, in this case, the plaintiffs are trying to compel the defendant agency to take an interpretation of a statute which it has repudiated. Certainly, the Court is free to decide what the law is without any concern as to what the administrative agency thinks the law is, and where the agency has changed its mind as to the interpretation, the former interpretation can certainly have no binding force on the Court.

The plaintiffs have searched diligently for some ambiguity in the licensing statutes which would justify the application of the "contemporaneous administrative

interpretation” rule. The plaintiffs cite Section 58-1-5, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as in some manner creating an ambiguity. We submit that it does not do so. Both chiropractors and naturopaths have their representative committees, as well as the other committee to represent those who want to treat human ailments without drugs or medicine and without operative surgery. The only significance this fact seems to have is that chiropractors and naturopaths have become so numerous and so well identified that it seemed proper to the Legislature to give them representative committees to assist the Department of Business Regulation. It still is basic that the only place that these groups are authorized to be licensed is under Section 58-12-2 in the category of those who apply for a license to “treat human ailments *without* the use of drugs or medicine and *without* operative surgery.” It may be supposed that if some other “drugless healer” group becomes cohesive and well identified, they also may have a representative committee. However, it would appear obvious that the mere fact that a group has a representative committee does not give that committee authority to enlarge the scope of practice beyond the limits set by the Legislature. It is the prerogative of the Legislature to make such a change.

### POINT III

**PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT QUALIFIED TO PRACTICE OBSTETRICS; AND IF SO QUALIFIED, THEY CANNOT USE DRUGS, MEDICINE OR SURGERY.**

Section 58-12-3, Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides that if an individual who has applied for a licence to

practice the treatment of human ailments without the use of drugs or medicine and without operative surgery successfully passes *the examination* in obstetrics, his license shall set forth his right to practice obstetrics. The plaintiffs assume that the only interpretation to be put on this provision is that a person so licensed *must* use drugs, medicine and surgery in the practice of obstetrics. This conclusion does not necessarily follow. It is a matter of common knowledge that the midwife has practiced obstetrics in this State for many years even until the present time without medicine, drugs or surgery. It is also a matter of common knowledge that in recent years there has been a considerable amount of writings by medical professionals extolling the virtues of natural, painless childbirth achieved through psychiatry and/or hypnotic suggestion. In view of these known things, it is not at all incompatible with the concept of "drugless healing" to authorize a naturopath to practice obstetrics without the use of drugs or medicine and without operative surgery.

It is to be noted that Webster's International Dictionary defines "obstetrics" as the "science of midwifery; the art of assisting women in parturition; midwifery; the management of pregnancy and labor."

It is admitted by plaintiffs that the only examination to test the qualifications of naturopaths to practice obstetrics has been given by the naturopath committee established by Section 58-1-5(11). However, Section 58-1-5(9) provides:

"For practitioners of medicine and surgery in all branches thereof, and for the practice of

obstetrics only, a committee of five persons each of whom shall be a licensed practitioner of medicine and surgery in all branches thereof in this state \* \* \*.”

This foregoing section is the only place where the licensing statutes mention the committee or group that shall be concerned with the practice of obstetrics. Certainly, the Legislature did not intend to have various groups and committees each examining applicants for the purpose of practicing obstetrics in accordance with the particular committee's views on the subject. There would not be any uniform standard of qualification or practice which would most certainly range from the use of hypnosis to the use of surgery. It is submitted that the Legislature intended that the qualification of all persons desiring to practice obstetrics should be tested by one committee and that committee is the one created by Section 58-1-5(9), cited above. These plaintiffs have not been so qualified.

The plaintiffs seek some help for their position by referring to Section 58-12-3, which uses the words “without operative surgery.” The point of their argument being to the effect that by implication, they may practice surgery as long as it is not “operative surgery.” The only case coming to our attention where a statute using the words “operative surgery” has been construed by a court is the case of *State v. Thierfelder*, 114 Mont. 104, 132 P. 2d 1035, 1041, where the court said:

“According to all medical authorities ‘operative surgery’ includes both major and minor surgery.”

As far as obstetrics is concerned, plaintiffs have not

classified the surgery which they consider has been authorized them by that part of the licensing statute. (For other cases, see opinion of Attorney General, #55-101, attached to petition.)

#### POINT IV

THE INTENDED ACTION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REGISTRATION IS NOT A LICENSE REVOCATION PROCEEDING, BUT MERELY ONE TO MAKE THE LICENSE ISSUED CONFORM TO THE LAW.

In Point Five in their brief, plaintiffs assume that the threatened action of the defendants is one of revocation of outstanding licenses. We say that it is not a revocation proceeding. The Department has determined that through inadvertence, mistake, or incorrect advice, licenses have been issued which purport to grant to plaintiffs the right to practice in a professional area for which they are not authorized to apply and which the Department is not authorized to issue. It is a fundamental proposition that if an agency attempts to issue a license without authority, the license is void. All of the licensing authority which the Department holds has been delegated by the Legislature, and an attempted extension of the authority by the Department is a nullity.

Plaintiffs' Point Five deals with the revocation for cause of licenses otherwise validly issued. In this case, the only action threatened is to put proper limits on the license and not to revoke any license.

Plaintiffs also assent in their Point Five that no question of public health has been raised, nor has any question of qualification of plaintiffs been raised. Of

course, a failure to raise the question of qualification or public health does not mean that such questions do not exist. However, since this action (of the Department) is not a revocation proceeding but merely to make the license conform to the licensing authority of the Department, it makes no difference whether plaintiffs are qualified or not. If the Department does not have the *authority* to license plaintiffs under their applications, to engage in the extended practice, then it makes no difference how qualified the applicant is. If plaintiffs wish to practice medicine and surgery, in all of its branches, let them so apply and demonstrate their qualifications. However, since plaintiffs have applied to be licensed to practice the "treatment of human ailments *without* drugs or medicine and *without* operative surgery," then let their licenses and practice be so limited. The prohibitive and limiting words are so clear in our licensing statute that there is not any reasonable room to say that they do not mean that these plaintiffs must confine their practice to the treatment of human ailments without drugs or medicine and without operative surgery.

### CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs' application for a writ of mandamus should be denied, and order heretofore issued to the defendant should be quashed.